Contents lists available at SciVerse ScienceDirect

# Neuropsychologia

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/neuropsychologia

**Reviews and perspectives** 

## A review on sex differences in processing emotional signals

## M.E. Kret<sup>a,1</sup>, B. De Gelder<sup>a,b,\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Cognitive and Affective Neurosciences Laboratory, Tilburg University, Tilburg, The Netherlands
<sup>b</sup> Martinos Center for Biomedical Imaging, Massachusetts General Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Charlestown, MA, USA

## ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 15 June 2011 Received in revised form 22 December 2011 Accepted 29 December 2011 Available online 8 January 2012

Keywords: Emotion Sex differences Brain Evolution Social psychology

## ABSTRACT

Interest in sex-related differences in psychological functioning has again come to the foreground with new findings about their possible functional basis in the brain. Sex differences may be one way how evolution has capitalized on the capacity of homologous brain regions to process social information between men and women differently. This paper focuses specifically on the effects of emotional valence, sex of the observed and sex of the observer on regional brain activations. We also discuss the effects of and interactions between environment, hormones, genes and structural differences of the brain in the context of differential brain activity patterns between men and women following exposure to seen expressions of emotion and in this context we outline a number of methodological considerations for future research. Importantly, results show that although women are better at recognizing emotions and express themselves more easily, men show greater responses to threatening cues (dominant, violent or aggressive) and this may reflect different behavioral response tendencies between men and women as well as evolutionary effects. We conclude that sex differences must not be ignored in affective research and more specifically in affective neuroscience.

© 2012 Published by Elsevier Ltd.

NEUROPSYCHOLOGI

#### Contents

1.	Introduction	1211
2.	Recognizing emotions	1212
	2.1. Are women more emotional than men?	1212
	2.2. Cultural prescriptions shaped by evolution	1213
	2.3. Hormones and sex differences	1213
	2.4. Chromosomes and sex differences	1214
	2.5. Sex differences in brain structures	1214
	2.6. Hemispheric lateralization in affective neuroscience	1215
	2.7. Activation patterns in males as compared to females	1215
	2.8. Sex of the actor and sex of the observer	1216
3.	Discussion	1217
4.	Conclusion	
	Acknowledgements	1218
	References	1218

## 1. Introduction

The expression and interpretation of emotions play an important part in human interactions. Research indicates that men and women possess different skills related to the sending and receiving of emotional messages. In general, women are more emotionally expressive, whereas men conceal or control their emotional displays (Buck, Miller, & Caul, 1974). In addition to their encoding ability, women tend to express emotion through facial expression and interpersonal communication, whereas men generally express emotion through actions such as engaging in aggressive behavior.

Sex differences in brain activation patterns associated with the processing of emotional expressions have been identified in numerous studies and described in many meta-analysis studies. However, from this gathered information, many questions are still left unanswered. Do women express their emotions and recognize others'



<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author at: Postbus 90153, 5000 LE Tilburg, The Netherlands. Tel.: +31 13 466 2495; fax: +31 13 466 2067.

E-mail address: degelder@nmr.mgh.harvard.edu (B. De Gelder).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Presently at: University of Amsterdam, Amsterdam, The Netherlands.

<sup>0028-3932/\$ –</sup> see front matter @ 2012 Published by Elsevier Ltd. doi:10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2011.12.022

emotions better or differently than men in all situations? If so, is this an inherent tendency or a product of socialization and cultural expectations? Do women feel more emotions than men and could this possibly be reflected in enhanced brain activity levels? These and other questions will be discussed in a very broad context, broader than most of the earlier review articles. Different factors that could possibly underlie sex differences in emotional processes—including chromosomal, hormonal, structural and functional differences on the brain level, as well as environmental (including cultural) factors and their interactions are discussed. Besides these factors that all affect the participant, we also discuss the effect of the sex of the stimulus.

In this review article we want to consider the evidence about the common view popular outside science that women are more emotional than men. The most problematic conflicting evidence with the stereotype is that men do not conceal their emotions or control their responses when it comes to aggression. The size of this bias toward hostility is closely related with testosterone levels and is reflected in increased brain activity levels as compared to females. In this review we pull apart emotional expressivity from emotional experience and show that whereas women may be more expressive than men and tend to recognize emotions better, this is highly dependent on the situation and type of emotion and does not reflect brain activity patterns.

## 2. Recognizing emotions

Men and women show differences in their ability to recognize facial expressions of emotion. Much of the evidence shows that women are better in identifying facial affect (Campbell et al., 2002; Collignon et al., 2011; Hall, 1978; Hampson, van Anders, & Mullin, 2006; Thayer & Johnsen, 2000). In a task which involved choosing a photograph that corresponded to a described emotion, 3.5-yearold girls were as accurate as 5-year-old boys (Boyatzis, Chazan, & Ting, 1993). However, boys and girls performed equally well on finding a line drawing of a target face among an array of eight distracter line drawing faces (LoBue, 2009). Nevertheless, a review article concluded that across development, a small yet reliable enhancement in performance on emotion tasks in females relative to males has been observed. This difference was largest in infancy and early childhood (McClure, 2000). Taken together with Hall's (1984) meta-analytic findings of a consistent female advantage for expression processing in adults, these findings suggest that sex differences wax and wane at different points in the lifespan, with a tendency for females to perform better. Despite this evidence, there is controversy about the specificity and the size of the female advantage (Derntl et al., 2010; Grimshaw, Bulman-Fleming, & Ngo, 2004; Rahman, Wilson, & Abrahams, 2004).

One suggestion is that sex differences in the reaction to face stimuli may be greatest when the intensity of the emotions portrayed is maximal (Wild, Erb, & Bartels, 2001). Another study advocated that the differences might be explained by different looking patterns of male and female participants. In that study women were faster (not more accurate) in identifying happy facial expressions and males spent a significantly longer time viewing the nose and mouth (Vassallo, Cooper, & Douglas, 2009). However, we could not replicate these findings. In a group of 37 students, looking patterns of male and female participants on angry, fearful and happy facial expressions were similar. Even when including a high and low socially anxious group and increasing the sample to 79 individuals did not reveal any difference between the sexes (Kret, Roelofs, Stekelenburg, & De Gelder, in preparation) (see also Jansari, Rodway, & Goncalves, 2011). In another study showing the emotional expressions for a short duration - less than 200 ms - looking patterns were the same for both genders, yet women

showed higher accuracy rates than men (Hall & Matsumoto, 2004). Other studies suggest that these sex differences depend on the type of emotion. Women are said to be better in recognizing facial expressions of fear and sadness (Mandal & Palchoudhury, 1985; Nowicki & Hartigan, 1988), while men are superior at identifying anger (Mandal & Palchoudhury, 1985; Rotter & Rotter, 1988; Wagner, 1986).

All the above studies used photographs. In real life, emotional expressions are highly dynamic and researchers recently explored the influence of movement in emotional paradigms. Sex differences have not always been observed in the explicit recognition of dynamic expressions (Kret, Pichon, Grèzes, & De Gelder, 2011; Nelson & Russell, 2011a, 2011b; Rahko et al., 2010). However, in women, dynamic expressions have been associated with higher intensity ratings for anger and happiness whereas in men, dynamics' influence was limited to anger (Biele & Grabowska, 2006).

Common sense suggests that being confronted with a physically stronger man who expresses anger is a greater threat than being confronted with a woman who is less strong. For this and other reasons, some researchers looked at the effect of the sex of the stimulus and its interaction with the sex of the observer and some interesting observations resulted from that. As one would predict, evidence suggests that pictures of males versus females expressing anger are stronger cues. In an approach-avoidance-task, Seidel, Habel, Kirschner, Gur, and Derntl (2010) found significantly faster responses following male than female faces expressing disgust and anger. They also observed that female participants rated female faces more positively than male faces (Seidel et al., 2010). Anger posed by males was more accurately perceived than anger posed by females (Goos & Silverman, 2002). On the other hand, Marsh, Adams, and Kleck (2005) observed that their participants responded faster to female than to male faces and most quickly to women expressing fear. Armony and Sergerie (2007) observed that female participants better remembered fearful (but not neutral or happy) female versus male faces but it is unclear whether this difference was larger than in male participants. It has also been reported that female subjects better recognized females' than males' expressions whereas there was no difference for males (Wagner, 1986).

To conclude this section, there appears to be a female advantage when it comes to emotion recognition but due to conflicting results it is still not clear if this is true for all emotions in all situations and all expressers (McClure, 2000). More naturalistic stimuli and taking into account the sex of the actor, could provide further insight into the issues at stake. How these observations translate to differential brain activation patterns and how other factors such as chromosomal and hormonal differences can mediate these effects is discussed later on. But before we move to those issues, we will first clarify that differences in emotion recognition, expression or intensity ratings do not necessarily mean that the emotional *experience* between men and women differs. This issue will often come back in the remaining of this manuscript.

#### 2.1. Are women more emotional than men?

Common sense views women as more emotional than men. Yet research suggests this presumed difference is based more on an *expressive* than on an *experiential* difference (Dimberg & Lundquist, 1990). Kring and Gordon (1998) assessed the expressive, experiential, and physiological emotional responses of men and women in two studies. In Study 1, participants viewed emotional films. Compared with men, women were more expressive, showed a different pattern of skin conductance responses but reported similar levels of experienced emotion. In Study 2, men and women completed self-report scales of expressivity, gender role characteristics, and family expressiveness after viewing the films. Results replicated those from Study 1, and gender role characteristics and family expressiveness (as measured by rating the extent to which different expressive behaviors occurred in their families) modulated the relation between sex and expressivity. So, the higher gender role characteristics and family expressiveness, the higher expressiveness (Kring & Gordon, 1998). Wagner, MacDonalda, and Mansteada (1986) videotaped participants' facial expressions as they watched emotional slides. After each slide, participants named the emotion term that best described their affective reaction. Similar uses of emotion terms were later made by another group who watched the videotaped expressions. Females' neutral and surprised faces were more accurately recognized than those of males.

All this suggests that the stereotype of women "being" more emotional than men is probably derived from an expressive difference. It has been suggested that women might appear to be more emotional because they are more facile with emotion language (Fugate, Gouzoules, & Barrett, 2009) see also (Azim, Mobbs, Jo, Menon, & Reiss, 2005). Aside from this, across cultures, women show their tears five times more often than men (Walter, 2006). Women also tend to smile more, but results from a meta-analysis suggest that they do so especially in situations where they are expected to smile more (LaFrance, Hecht, & Paluck, 2003). In sharp contrast, men feel anger more frequently and tend to be more aggressive than women (Biaggio, 1980, 1989; Doyle & Biaggio, 1981). This provides evidence against the idea that women are generally more emotional than men and instead, it depends on the type of emotion and on the situation. Sex differences in crying, smiling and aggressive behavior therefore seem partly based on gender-specific display rules. Many sex differences are context-dependent, and socialized in accordance with display rules, prescriptive social norms that dictate how, when and where emotions can be expressed by males and females (Brody & Hall, 1993; Fischer, 1993; Fischer, Rodriguez Mosquera, van Vianen, & Manstead, 2004; Shields, 1987; Stoppard & Gruchy, 1993; Underwood, Coie, & Herbsman, 1992). We will elaborate on this issue in the next section.

#### 2.2. Cultural prescriptions shaped by evolution

One of the many still unanswered questions regarding sex differences and their origin is whether they came into existence within a specific culture or whether they became evolutionary adaptive at some point and thereby modified culture. Either way, cultural influences probably socialize males and females to act in accordance with certain expectations. While socialization of aggressiveness might involve learning to control and inhibit angry behavior, pressures for this may be stronger on females than on males (Eron & Huesmann, 1984). Interestingly, women are more likely to use direct aggression in private, and are more likely to use indirect aggression in public (Chrisler & Donald, 2010). By age 4-5, girls tend to suppress the expression of anger consciously. By about 7-8 years of age, adult-like differences become more consistent, with boys expressing more anger (Potegal & Archer, 2004). But when it comes to positive emotions, women are not inhibited to express their feelings. Fischer and Dubbe (2003) showed that females' responses to advertisements that contain happiness or sentimentality were not influenced by social context effects. But the presence of another male in the viewing environment affected male responses when the emotional appeal was incongruent with stereotypes. Under private viewing conditions, male participants' self-reports were similar to that of females.

These cultural expectations also modify the meaning of emotional expressions as a function of the sex of the expresser. Men who display sadness, depression, fear, or dysphoric self-conscious emotions including shame and embarrassment are evaluated more negatively than females (Siegel & Alloy, 1990), and are less likely to be comforted than women (Barbee, Cunningham, Winstead, & Derlega, 1993). On the opposite side, anger and aggression are seen as socially acceptable for men and aggressive boys have been found to be judged as more likable and socially competent than non-aggressive boys (Hart, DeWolf, & Burts, 1992; Serbin, Marchessault, McAffer, Peters, & Schwartzman, 1993), whereas this is not the case for girls (Crick, 1997). Men who expressed neutral and angry emotions were rated as higher in dominance when compared with men expressing sadness or shame (Hareli, Shomrat, & Hess, 2009). Female smiles are appealing to males, increasing physical attractiveness and enhancing sex appeal. However, a man's smile may not be most effective in attracting women, and facial expressions such as pride or even shame might be more effective (Tracy & Beall, 2011).

More evidence that the interaction between emotion and sex is highly socialized and changes the meaning or interpretation of emotional expressions comes from a study by Barrett and Bliss-Moreau (2009). When participants in an experiment looked at photos of women's and men's faces looking sad, afraid, angry, or disgusted, that are shown with a sentence beneath the image purporting to explain the emotion ("buried a family pet" for a sad face, for instance, and "was threatened by an attacker" for a fearful one), they offered starkly different explanations for the emotions. Women in the photos were said to feel sad, angry or afraid because they were "emotional", but the pictured men felt those emotions because they were "having a bad day"-even when the expressions and their explanations were identical (Barrett & Bliss-Moreau, 2009). The society we live in with its normative expectations has a massive impact on our gender identity. What is more, being forced to act in conflict with these scripts causes feelings of frustration. Bosson and Vandello (2011) observed that asking men to do jobs traditionally associated with women made them more aggressive when their masculinity was being threatened (Bosson & Vandello, 2011) see also (Bosson, Vandello, Burnaford, Weaver, & Arzu Wasti, 2009).

If these sex differences go a long way back in the course of evolution, they are probably best detectable via implicit paradigms and may also be apparent in young children. In an old binocular rivalry study, a relatively cultural bias-free technique, it has been found that males reported more violent scenes than females (Moore, 1966). As will be outlined in the next section, this enhanced sensitivity to threat in males, may be mediated by testosterone. Recent findings suggest that also ovarian hormones play an important role in emotional functions and may influence behavior directly or via brain plasticity and functionality (Derntl et al., 2008; Guapo et al., 2009; Hiroi & Neumaier, 2011; Zeidan et al., 2011).

## 2.3. Hormones and sex differences

Gonadal hormones, and testosterone in particular, are known to influence the regulation of emotional responses and affective states and may mediate some of the sex differences that are seen in emotional processes. Also, there is growing evidence that the neuropeptides oxytocin and vasopressin modulate complex social behavior and social cognition (Bos et al., in press) and oxytocin and vasopressin receptors are abundantly present in the hypothalamic nuclei and in limbic areas including the amygdala (Landgraf & Neumann, 2004).

Although normally released from the hypothalamus during the activation of the sympathetic autonomic nervous system, when administered exogenously, oxytocin produces opposite effects of the fight-or-flight response (Jezova, Skultetyova, Tokarev, Bakos, & Vigas, 1995). Oxytocin has caused relaxation and sedation as well as reduced fearfulness and reduced sensitivity to pain (Uvnas-Moberg & Petersson, 2005). Williams, Carter, and Lightman (1985) observed higher stress-induced increase in oxytocin levels in male rats of

which the testes had been surgically removed. This might suggest an inhibitory action of testosterone (Williams et al., 1985). In addition to the increased quantity of oxytocin released in females versus males, McCarthy (1995) found that estrogen enhances the effects of oxytocin. Thus, oxytocin may be vital in the reduction of the fight-or-flight response in females.

In males, the fight-or-flight response is characterized by the release of vasopressin. The effects of vasopressin are enhanced by and probably dependent on testosterone and influence the defense behavior of male animals (Taylor et al., 2000). Van Honk et al. (1999) showed positive relationships in both men and women between testosterone levels and vigilance to angry faces. Similarly, Wirth and Schultheiss (2007) observed that higher testosterone predicted better learning on sequences paired with sub-threshold (i.e., presented too fast for conscious awareness) angry faces. The authors suggest that testosterone may generally decrease aversion to threatening stimuli, and may facilitate approach toward signals of dominance. Testosterone level is also a good predictor of the presence of aggressive behavior and dominance (van Honk & Schutter, 2007).

At the level of brain responses, a recent review article (van Wingen, Ossewaarde, Backstrom, Hermans, & Fernandez, 2011) concludes that studies that have investigated women during different phases of the menstrual cycle (Derntl et al., 2008; Goldstein et al., 2005) suggest that progesterone and estradiol have opposing actions on the amygdala and prefrontal cortex. Endogenous testosterone concentrations are generally positively correlated to amygdala and OFC responses, and exogenous testosterone increases amygdala reactivity (van Wingen et al., 2011). Stanton et al. (2009) document associations between endogenous testosterone levels and BOLD responses to anger faces in the amygdala and vmPFC in men. The results further support the negative associations between amygdala and vmPFC activity. It has been suggested that this may contribute to sex differences in the vulnerability to psychiatric disorders (Kessler et al., 2005).

The above studies looked at hormonal effects in adulthood. But already very early in life androgens act to masculinize various human behaviors. There is evidence that the ratio of the length of the second digit divided by the length of the fourth digit (2D:4D) is affected by prenatal androgens. Many sexually differentiated behaviors have been correlated with digit ratios and replicated, including aggression (Benderlioglu & Nelson, 2004) and risk taking (Schwerdtfeger, Heims, & Heer, 2010) (for an overview, see Breedlove, 2010). It has been suggested that fetal testosterone comes into prominence when its priming is experimentally activated by testosterone administration in adulthood. A single administration of testosterone in female subjects leads to an impairment in the ability to infer emotions, intentions, and mental states of others. However, the 2D:4D ratio fetal testosterone marker predicted more than 50% of the variance in this effect, that is, effects of testosterone on cognitive empathy were only seen in subjects who were highly prenatally primed by testosterone (van Honk et al., 2011).

To conclude this section, there is a lot of discussion about the effects of circulating sex hormones and the prenatal organizing effects of sex hormones. But some differences between men and women cannot be not fully explained by gonadal hormones. Diversity in the genetic regulation of the receptors of neuropeptides (such as oxytocin and vasopressin) and perhaps also interactions between hormones levels and gene expression seem to underlie natural variation in social behavior.

#### 2.4. Chromosomes and sex differences

As discussed in the former section, there is vast evidence for gonadal hormone control of sex differences (Morris, Jordan, & Breedlove, 2004). But some neural and non-neural phenotypes have been found in which sex differences are not explained by the action of gonadal hormones (Arnold & Chen, 2009; Ngun, Ghahramani, Sanchez, Bocklandt, & Vilain, 2010; Sanchez & Vilain, 2010). In some cases, sex differences were found at developmentally earlier stages, before the onset of sex differences in levels of gonadal hormones.

Sex chromosomes are the only factors known to be represented differently in the male and female zygote. A strong test of the role of sex chromosome complement is the 'four core genotypes' (FCG) mouse model that produces XX and XYgonadal males, and XX and XY gonadal females (De Vries et al., 2002). Gatewood et al. (2006) used FCG mice in home cage intruder tests. Intruders were gonadintact submissive males. The FCG mice were gonadectomized as adults, and testosterone was administered prior to the tests. XXmales, XY-males, and XY-females showed equal levels of aggression toward the intruder. XX-females showed less aggression. Thus, the effects of testicular secretions or an XY genome dominated. In another experiment, Barker, Torregrossa, Arnold, and Taylor (2010) used FCG mice and found that alcohol drinking was predicted by gonadal phenotype independent of sex chromosome complement. Various human sex chromosome disorders exist, which might be considered as a human model for sex chromosome effects similar to the four core genotypes. The most common variants in men involve additional X or Y chromosomes: Klinefelter Syndrome (47,XXY and 47,XYY). In women, the most common variants entail the addition or absence of X-chromosomes including 47, XXX; 48, XXXX; and Turner's Syndrome (TS) (45,X).

TS is a common chromosomal disorder in women, and provides a valuable paradigm to investigate genotypic contributions to social cognition. First of all, emotion recognition is impaired in women with TS (Lawrence, Kuntsi, Coleman, Campbell, & Skuse, 2003; Mazzola et al., 2006; Skuse, Morris, & Dolan, 2005). Skuse et al. (1997) observed differences in social skills between 45,Xp Turner-syndrome girls (in which the X was of paternal origin) and 45,Xm girls (in which the X was maternally derived). 45,Xp had superior social competence and better social skills than 45,Xm girls, suggesting that the genes in this locus are expressed only from the paternal X. A parallel may be drawn between the TS data and that of healthy men; both groups inherited the maternal X-chromosome and lack Xp-linked genes. Both demonstrate decrements in face and affect recognition (Skuse et al., 1997). The deficits in TS co-exist with neuro-anatomical abnormalities of the amygdala and other regions implicated in social processing (for a review, see Burnett, Reutens, & Wood, 2010).

## 2.5. Sex differences in brain structures

Sex differences in brain structure are well-documented, although not necessarily consistent. During critical periods of development in fetal and neonatal life, testicular secretions have permanent effects on the brain (Arnold & Gorski, 1984; Phoenix, Goy, Gerall, & Young, 1959). Exposure to androgens influences neuronal survival and connections (De Vries et al., 2002; Negri-Cesi, Colciago, Celotti, & Motta, 2004).

One robust finding is that the volume of the total brain is significantly larger in males than in females (Giedd et al., 1996), which is observed as early as infancy (Gilmore et al., 2007). When controlling for total volume, women have a higher percentage of grey matter and men a higher percentage of white matter (Gur et al., 1999; Luders, Steinmetz, & Jancke, 2002) for a review see (Cosgrove, Mazure, & Staley, 2007). Researchers have reported anatomical differences in limbic areas such as the amygdala and the caudate in male and female children (Durston et al., 2001) as well as in regions of the cingulate, hippocampus, parietal, and occipital regions in adults (Raz et al., 2004). A negative correlation between the number of X-chromosomes and amygdalar volume has been observed in subjects with sex chromosome aneuploidies (Warwick et al., 1999). Women with TS have reduced volumes in structures connected with the amygdala, such as the right hippocampus, orbitofrontal cortex, and superior temporal sulcus (Kesler et al., 2004; Molko et al., 2004). But also sex hormones exert organizing effects on the brain and on regional grey matter in particular (Witte, Savli, Holik, Kasper, & Lanzenberger, 2010).

As mentioned previously, brain structure may also have consequences for function, and perhaps differently for men and women. For example, there are sex differences in locus coeruleus dendritic structure that allow for an increased receipt and processing of limbic information in females compared to males (Valentino, Reyes, Van Bockstaele, & Bangasser, 2011). Amygdala volume correlates positively with fearfulness in girls but not in boys (van der Plas, Boes, Wemmie, Tranel, & Nopoulos, 2010). Aggressive and defiant behavior is associated with decreased right anterior cingulate cortex (ACC) volume in boys (Boes, Tranel, Anderson, & Nopoulos, 2008). Not surprisingly, besides the structural differences between the male and female brain, a growing body of research demonstrates sex differences in the neural network involved in processing emotions (Lee, Liu, Chan, Fang, & Gao, 2005). Two observations are a stronger right hemispheric lateralization and also a higher activation level in males as compared to females.

## 2.6. Hemispheric lateralization in affective neuroscience

Some studies suggest that hemispheric cerebral activation differences in emotion processing are sex dependent (Hall & Matsumoto, 2004; Kesler-West et al., 2001; Killgore & Yurgelun-Todd, 2001; Williams et al., 2005). A meta-analysis of neuroimaging studies on valence, sex and lateralization in functional brain anatomy in emotion concluded that lateralization of emotional activity is complex and region-specific (Wager, Phan, Liberzon, & Taylor, 2003) (see also, Wager & Ochsner, 2005; Zald, 2003).

Many researchers focused the search for sex differences on the amygdala (Cahill, 2003; Cahill et al., 2001; Cahill, Uncapher, Kilpatrick, Alkire, & Turner, 2004; Canli, Desmond, Zhao, & Gabrieli, 2002). Whereas these studies about memory for emotional stimuli show quite a consistent sex-related lateralization, studies that focus on just the processing of emotional stimuli do not find such steady patterns. A recent meta-analyses does not confirm a consistent pattern of sex differences in this area as a function of sex or valence (Fusar-Poli, Placentino, Carletti, Allen, et al., 2009; Sergerie, Chochol, & Armony, 2008; Wager et al., 2003). So, the debate about sex regarding general emotional processing is not over. Using a large sample of 235 male adolescents and 235 females matched for age and handedness, Schneider et al. (2011) recently investigated the sex-specific lateralization of amygdala activation during an emotional face perception task. Performing a sex by hemisphere analysis, they observed stronger right amygdala activation in males compared to females. Moreover, only male participants showed enhanced right (not left) amygdala activation following angry versus neutral dynamic faces.

To examine developmental sex differences in affective processing, Killgore et al. (2001) investigated children and adolescent hemodynamic response while viewing pictures of fearful faces. Males and females differed in their pattern of the amygdala versus prefrontal activation during adolescent maturation. Females showed a progressive increase in prefrontal relative to amygdala activation in the left hemisphere, whereas males failed to show a significant age related difference.

Hemispheric lateralization differences between men and women have also been observed in electrophysiological studies. In a task of judging facial expressions and pictures of infants, Proverbio, Brignone, Matarazzo, Del Zotto, and Zani (2006) found an asymmetrical activation of the visual cortex (early face-sensitive P1 and N1 components) in men (with right-hemisphere predominance), and bilateral activity in women. Gasbarri et al. (2007) observed a sexrelated hemispheric lateralization of electrical potentials evoked by arousing negative pictures. Negative pictures elicited more robust P300 effects in the left hemisphere in women and in the right hemisphere in men. This ERP finding was later replicated by using a different paradigm. A set of slides was accompanied by a simple narrative, either a neutral version or an arousing one. In addition to their previous ERP finding, they also found that men, not women, recalled the arousing story better than the neutral version (Arnone, Pompili, Tavares, & Gasbarri, 2011).

However, controversy around the lateralization hypothesis remains. In fact, it has recently been suggested that greater left than right frontal cortical activity is associated with *approach motivation*, which can be positive (enthusiasm) or negative in valence (anger) (Harmon-Jones, Gable, & Peterson, 2010). Thus, the lateralization differences between men and women that are sometimes observed may arise from differential approach motivation tendencies to emotional stimuli. Female and male behavioral tendencies on response to threat should be further investigated, for example in approach-avoidance paradigms (Seidel et al., 2010).

### 2.7. Activation patterns in males as compared to females

Wager et al. (2003) performed a quantitative meta-analysis on 65 neuroimaging studies of emotion. They found that females showed more brainstem activation in affective paradigms than males. A review article published one year later and which included 105 fMRI studies found that when processing human emotional faces, female participants showed greater activation than male participants in the right subcallosal gyrus. Male participants showed a greater neural response than female participants, in the right medial frontal gyrus, the left fusiform gyrus and in a cluster spanning the right parahippocampal gyrus and the amygdala (Fusar-Poli, Placentino, Carletti, Landi, et al., 2009). However, Sergerie et al. (2008) who in their review focused on the amygdala, could not find evidence for a difference in the proportion of amygdala activations between men and women.

Nevertheless, elevated activation of the amygdala in males compared to females following emotional stimuli has been observed regularly. While viewing pictures of attacks by humans or animals, men exhibited greater activation in the bilateral amygdala and the left fusiform gyrus than women (Schienle, Schafer, Stark, Walter, & Vaitl, 2005). Male subjects demonstrated right amygdala activation compared to baseline while observing sad faces, which was not present in females. Moreover, in male subjects, signal intensities in the right amygdala increased with intensified subjective experience of sadness. The same pattern was not confirmed for women and also not for the left amygdala (Schneider, Habel, Kessler, Salloum, & Posse, 2000). Men also showed more right amygdala activity following the passive observation of dynamic angry versus neutral faces which was not the case in women (Schneider et al., 2011).

Elevated activation in males versus females has also been observed in other brain areas than the amygdala. For example, Fine et al. (2009) showed greater male than female activation following photos and videos of positive and negative content in a range of frontal and temporal areas, and in the cingulate cortex. Remarkably, there was only one small area in the left middle temporal gyrus that showed more activation in females versus males. In another study by Rahko et al. (2010), during the observation of dynamic happy (but not fearful) faces, male adolescent subjects showed increased activity in the right frontal pole (MFG-paracingulate). Wrase et al. (2003) reported that men showed more activity than women in the amygdala, inferior frontal gyrus, medial frontal gyrus and fusiform gyrus following exposure to emotional pictures. Again, there were no areas that responded stronger in female than male participants. Also Lee et al. (2005) observed enhanced activity in male participants during emotion recognition, in the right insula and left thalamus. Although women showed stronger neural responses than men to facial expressions of disgust, men displayed stronger brain activation than women to facial expressions of contempt (Aleman & Swart, 2008).

Derntl et al. (2009) observed that females and males showed equal bilateral amygdala activation following emotional faces but calculation of correlation coefficients for females and males separately revealed a significant association between recognition accuracy and amygdala activation to fearful faces only in the male group. Schneider et al. (2000) reported a correlation between mood parameters and amygdala activation during sad mood induction only in the male subjects. While viewing fearful versus neutral facial expressions, male but not female observers showed attenuation of tonic arousal all across early to late phases of the experiment. By contrast, when amygdala responses to fear perception were averaged for the whole experiment, females showed a relatively greater extent of amygdala activity than males, but there were no differences in the magnitude of the response (Williams et al., 2005). Han, Gao, Humphreys, and Ge (2008) examined if there exists a neural network supporting the processing of evolutionary unprepared threat cues that is independent of the fear or emotion-related system and whether this differed between male and female participants. As stimulus material they used a person with a neutral facial expression in either a safe situation (e.g., walking besides a stationary car) or a potentially dangerous situation (e.g., walking in front of a moving car). The results showed that the detection of threat cues was associated with stronger posterior parietal activation for males than females. This finding suggests that neural processing of evolutionary unprepared threat cues in social environments is influenced by evolutionary pressure on sex differences (Han et al., 2008).

In the preceding sections we discussed male-female differences in brain activity without taking situational factors into account. However, some male-female differences can only be observed when participants are brought into a stressful state. A recent study shows that acute stress affects face perception in opposite ways for men and women. Mather, Lighthall, Nga, and Gorlick (2010) did not find sex differences in overall amygdala or fusiform face area (FFA) activity. In their study, they observed that both in the stress and in the control conditions, women showed greater functional connectivity between the insula and the FFA and the amygdala when viewing angry faces than men did. FFA activity was greater under stress for women but diminished under stress for men, a relationship that was correlated with baseline testosterone but not estrogen levels (Mather et al., 2010). These findings are particularly interesting in the light of another recent study by Ino, Nakai, Azuma, Kimura, and Fukuyama (2010). They suggested that the reduced activation of women's brains during processing emotions suggest that the relevant neural systems are more efficiently recruited in women than in men.

Some EEG studies found enhanced activity in females versus males. Especially when looking at visual areas, women tend to have a larger beta response when observing facial expressions, yet this is independent of the type of emotion (O2, Guntekin & Basar, 2007; P300, Proverbio et al., 2006; but see Oliver-Rodriguez, Guan, & Johnston, 1999). Female participants seem to show significantly longer latency and higher amplitude P450 components than male subjects to both happy and sad faces (Orozco & Ehlers, 1998). Moreover, the N2b component, functionally considered as an attentional orienting mechanism, was delayed in men for happy stimuli as compared with fearful ones in a task in which they had to quickly detect deviant happy or fearful faces among a train of neutral ones (Campanella et al., 2004).

We already briefly mentioned at the beginning that angry male cues may be more threatening than female ones, possibly even more so for men than for women and we return to that issue at the end of the next section. In the following part, we discuss how men and women differentially process emotional cues as a function of the sex of the actor.

## 2.8. Sex of the actor and sex of the observer

Expressions of anger should be more readily associated with aversive events than should expressions of happiness. Indeed, research has shown that electrodermal conditioning to pictures of faces, with electric shock as the unconditioned stimulus, worked best in the case of pictures of angry males, better than with happy pictures or pictures of angry females (Öhman & Dimberg, 1978). Moreover, in a fear-conditioning experiment, it has been observed that conditioned fear to the face of a male out-group target resists extinction, but conditioned fear toward the face of a female outgroup target readily extinguished (Navarrete et al., 2009). Rotteveel and Phaf (2004) reported that their female sample reacted faster to male than to female faces, particularly to angry ones.

Research suggests that especially male participants respond to threatening male cues. Enhanced physiological arousal in men but not in women during exposure to angry male as opposed to female faces has been observed (Mazurski, Bond, Siddle, & Lovibond, 1996). Fischer et al. (2004) observed that exposure to angry male as opposed to angry female faces activated the visual cortex and the ACC more in men than in women. A similar sex-differential brain activation pattern was present during exposure to fearful but not neutral faces (Fischer et al., 2004). In line with these results, Aleman and Swart (2008) report stronger activation in the medial frontal gyrus, inferior frontal gyrus, and superior temporal gyrus in men than women in response to faces denoting interpersonal superiority. Kret et al. (2011) observed that men showed a higher blood de-oxy hemoglobin (BOLD) response following fearful and angry male bodily expressions in several regions of interest: extrastriate body area, fusiform gyrus, superior temporal sulcus and the premotor and supplementary motor area.

These studies suggest a defensive response in men during a confrontation with threatening males. Not surprisingly, aggression in men is often directed toward their own sex. In the evolutionary history, men were more often engaged in aggressive behavior, especially in situations connected with reproduction. Brutal rivalry between males is a part of human evolution and in most cultures men not only commit more violent offences but also more often the victims (Daly & Wilson, 1988). A recent study by Kret (2011) investigated how aggressive males who were imprisoned for conducting an aggressive offence against another man, perceive male bodily expressions of aggression. They found a bias toward interpreting positive emotions as anger. Therefore, it may be especially relevant for men to recognize anger in other men.

There is a large literature on the own race bias, the finding that people are better at recognizing faces of people from their own race but there may also be an own sex bias. For example, the left amygdala was more active for successfully remembered female fearful faces in women, whereas in men the right amygdala was more involved in memory for male fearful faces. At the behavioral level, female participants remembered better fearful (but not neutral or happy) female than male faces. Male participants remembered all face categories equally but the activation within the right amygala was associated with stronger activity for successful memory for male, compared to female, fearful faces (Armony & Sergerie, 2007). Fischer et al. (2004) found that men and women rated male and female faces as being equally expressive. Although no differences between the participating men and women regarding the degree of expressiveness in the overall ratings were observed, an increased fMRI signal was found in the left amygdala and adjacent anterior temporal regions in men, but not in women, during exposure to faces of the opposite versus the same sex (Fischer et al., 2004). In an EEG study, Doi, Amamoto, Okishige, Kato, and Shinohara (2010) observed a late positive component presumably reflecting the cognitive evaluation stage of the stimuli that was larger to neutral but not happy expressions of own-sex faces than to those of oppositesex faces. Furthermore, the late positive component amplitude to male neutral expressions was larger in the male viewers than in the female viewers (Doi et al., 2010). The P300 evoked in female participants when observing neutral faces was larger to female than to male faces (Oliver-Rodriguez et al., 1999).

### 3. Discussion

In the past decades we have witnessed something like a pendulum swing with interest in sex differences going through alternative phases of stressing and denying their existence. The reasons for these differences between men and women are numerous. They can be looked at from different perspectives, measured with different techniques and interpreted in multiple ways, which make it hard to explain and completely understand them and which causes some researchers to ignore them. However, they should be investigated and researchers should take advantage of and combine new research methods including brain imaging, the analysis of genetic factors, and hormone manipulations. This way, we will get a closer and closer view of the issues at stake.

Vigil (2008) suggests that sex differences in emotion are an adaptation to a presumed social structure exhibited by early hominoids, in which males tended to stay in their natal groups and females migrated from their natal group and later took care of preverbal offspring. Over history, women have been mostly responsible for childcare. Consistent with that, selection pressures for responses to threat that benefit both self and offspring would have been greater for females than for males. Research shows that women are more likely to seek the company of others in times of stress, compared to men (Taylor et al., 2000). Therefore, for women it is of much importance to pick up emotional cues from others and to facilitate communication and increase social bonding by also being expressive themselves. For men, anger recognition, especially the recognition of threatening cues from other men (competitors) might have proven particularly adaptive over the course of evolution.

Although both men and women show the biological fight or flight pattern of arousal (e.g., elevated heart rate and blood pressure) sex differences exist in the consequent behavior. Men's behavior under stress is typically characterized by fight (aggression) and by flight (social withdrawal, substance abuse) (Geary & Flinn, 2002). So, men and women may be biologically primed to react to threat in a certain way, but the environment reinforces these reaction patterns. For example, aggression is seen as socially acceptable for men but not for women which positively reinforces men and women to behave in a gender-stereotypical way (Hart et al., 1992; Serbin et al., 1993). This can in some cases become maladaptive in the long run, for example in the case of male violent offenders in which biological predispositions of aggressiveness came too much to expression in the violent environment in which they grew up (Lansford et al., 2007).

Paradoxically, while women might report finding emotional stimuli more distressing, for men they may provide more behaviorally relevant cues, which elicit a more potent orienting response and consequently different behavioral tendencies. This is in line with an earlier suggestion made by Kesler-West et al. (2001) that men may recruit more neurons when processing agonistic displays than when processing affiliative emotions. In this context, a closer examination of the effects of stimulus presentation duration is warranted. It is possible that the activation patterns that are observed in studies with long presentation times reflect different aspects of emotion processing than those from short presentation times (initial stress response versus more elaborative cognitive processes including reappraisal or emotion regulation). Systematic evaluation of the role that stimulus duration plays inactivation during emotion processing could facilitate reconciliation of different findings across studies.

Sexual differentiation of the human brain is a multifactorial process. The differences are not thought to be only consequence of the influence of sex hormones on brain organization during development but also of genetic factors (Cosgrove et al., 2007; Davies, Isles, Burgoyne, & Wilkinson, 2006). Several studies have provided evidence that some sex differences do occur very early during development, before fetuses are exposed to endogenous sex steroid hormones. The genetic makeup of individuals tends to dictate physiological differences. So, male and female brain cells carry a different complement of sex chromosome genes and are influenced throughout life by a different mix of gonadal hormones. Testosterone exposure in males during both early brain formation and in puberty is critical for the development of the sexually dimorphic male brain (MacLusky & Naftolin, 1981). Throughout evolution, the simple sexual-regulatory actions of oxytocin, vasopressin, testosterone and estradiol gradually extended to more complex social behavior such as bonding between mothers and infants, partner bonding, social recognition, aggression between conspecifics, and ultimately the regulation of social cognition in primates. The broad spectrum of social behavior can range from violent acts of aggression against a conspecific to apparent altruistic behavior. At both ends of the spectrum, steroid and neuropeptide mechanisms are involved and have a firm grip on human behavior (Bos et al., in press).

In their view of sexual differentiation of the brain, McCarthy and Arnold (2011) stress the importance of genetics and environment being incorporated along with the effects of hormones to provide a more nuanced portrayal of the types of variables that cause sex differences. Included in this view are the principles that hormones, sex chromosome genes and sex-specific environments (which used to be discussed almost exclusively by social psychologists) have independent parallel differentiating effects that can interact with each other to cause sex differences in the brain.

While men have greater overall brain volume than women, relative to total volume, sex-specific regional differences exist. Men have a larger amygdala and hypothalamus, while women have a larger caudate and hippocampus. To what extent these structural differences contribute to functional differences remains largely unknown and this warrants further investigation. Research has shown a marked dissociation between men and women in activation patterns following emotional stimuli. Males tend to show greater responses in neural systems that encode aggression related affective and perceptual features of stimuli, functions often associated with the amygdala and temporal cortex but also motor preparation areas. But it is necessary to make some critical remarks.

BOLD effects depend on multiple physiologic parameters and it is impossible to extract a single physiologic parameter from the observed signal changes. Some physiologic parameters differ between men and women and some of the above-discussed results can possibly be explained by those. Before moving to a more theoretical discussion about if we should, want to or even can control for these possibly confounding or possibly interesting factors, we first briefly discuss some parameters that could be confounding. Notably, these are not specific for sex differences but are relevant whenever groups are compared such as in clinical studies. The amplitude and time course of the BOLD signal are dynamic. Structural differences can be of influence, as well as cerebral metabolic rate of oxygen, blood volume and rCBF (Cohen, Ugurbil, & Kim, 2002; Kastrup, Li, Glover, Kruger, & Moseley, 1999; Kemna, Posse, Tellmann, Schmitz, & Herzog, 2001). Also hematocrit, the concentration of red blood cells in blood, is of influence on the BOLD response and differs between men and women (45% in men, 40% in women) (Levin et al., 2001). Women have higher global and rCBF levels than do men which affects the BOLD response (Gur et al., 1982; Rodriguez, Warkentin, Risberg, & Rosadini, 1988).

Levin et al. (1998) applied gradient echo-echo planar imaging to measure BOLD signal response in the primary visual cortex in response to binocular photic stimulation. They found that the BOLD signal response was 38% lower in women than in men, and much of the difference was lateralized to the right hemisphere. They concluded that lower BOLD signal response in women may reflect a sex difference in the brain's response to a primary visual stimulation or in the physiology underlying BOLD fMRI signal changes (Levin et al., 1998), both interpretations are relevant for affective neuroscience in which for example emotional pictures are presented. There is also evidence to support an endocrine effect upon functional brain activity and brain perfusion. A review of the literature suggests that estrogen replacement may increase CBF, alter regional brain activation patterns during cognitive processing, and have effects on various neurotransmitter systems (Smith & Zubieta, 2001).

Of particular relevance here is the possibility that the interpretation of functional imaging findings may change once certain parameters (such as size differences of certain brain areas) are controlled for. For example, an activation decrement observed in one group might actually be explained by a corresponding reduction in cortex in that group. A reduction of grey matter might appear as a reduction in measured brain activity due to partial volume averaging effects (Drevets, 2000). But if a structural difference or some baseline blood flow difference is detected, how can we know whether these facts explain the BOLD signal differences? Moreover, if the size of the particular structure implicated is taken into account (Asllani et al., 2009), if different baseline levels that have been shown to affect the BOLD response are controlled for, if hormonal factors are balanced out, if contextual factors are manipulated, if. . ., if. . .. then, can we still say we are measuring sex differences? Studies combining functional and structural information will give more insight in this potential confound. We presume that at least these questions should be discussed much more, especially between researchers from different fields of research. The different parameters should be investigated in detail in order to find out when and to what extent they might be of influence. Interesting in this context is a point made by De Vries (2004): neural sex differences could also prevent behavioral sex differences or differences in emotional processing instead of creating them...

Besides these theoretical considerations, we should think about the many conflicting results that have been reported and often not replicated. Because of the many different brain areas that have been found to be differentially involved in emotional processes in men and women, it may be better to conduct whole brain analyses and focus on patterns and connectivity between areas rather than focusing on specific ROIs. A lot of fMRI studies (most of them conducted before 2004) that are discussed in this article and in cited review articles and meta-analyses did not conduct a multiple comparison correction, leading to false positives. Small sample sizes may be another explanation for the diversity of findings, especially in fMRI research. But also in behavioral studies, many conflicting findings have been published. Not all studies replicated the female advantage for recognizing emotions: the specific task (verbal labelling versus emotion matching), the number of included emotions, the presentation duration of the stimuli (very often ceiling effects were not accounted for), the presence of another person

such as a test leader or even the type of reward and many other factors may influence men and women differently. Moreover, research in this area may suffer from a publication bias, positive results are more easily published. Besides, it is likely that various studies that report sex effects were not initially set up for this purpose which raises statistical questions.

Ironically, results are often written up in a stereotype-consistent way (that women are more emotional than men) and therefore it is sometimes hard, as a reader, to pick up "inconsistent" results that do diverge form the overall picture. For example, in Whittle, Yucel, Yap, and Allen (2011) one reads that a study by McClure et al. (2004), found increased female activation in response to angry face stimuli. However, it is not mentioned that this was only observed in the adult and not in the adolescent group. More importantly, in this study, enhanced female activation was only found when comparing the difference score between angry and neutral stimuli with male participants. But in fact, for men, angry, fearful and neutral faces all elicited more activation relative to fixation, which was not the case for women. Unfortunately, these differences with fixation were not compared between men and women but a completely different conclusion could have been drawn.

### 4. Conclusion

Taken together, there are strong indications that males and females differ in the recruitment of cerebral networks following female and male emotional expressions. This clearly suggests that in order to generalize findings about the neural correlates of processing emotions, we definitely should consider the sex of the subjects. To conclude, many studies observed strong effects of threatening stimuli, ranging from recognition performance effects to enhanced physiological arousal and brain activity in male observers, especially when observing a threatening or dominant male stimulus. Research has also shown that males use more physical aggression, especially toward other males. Future studies need to further investigate the interaction between sex of the observer and observed in various emotion paradigms.

## Acknowledgements

We thank the two anonymous reviewers for thoroughly reading the manuscript and providing thoughtful comments. We are grateful to Arik Cheshin for his comments and to Uludag Kamil for the interesting discussion on possibly confounding factors in the BOLD response. This study was supported by Human Frontiers Science Program RGP54/2004, NWO Nederlandse Organisatie voor Wetenschappelijk Onderzoek 400.04081 to BdG, and EU FP6-NEST-COBOL043403 and FP7 TANGO to BdG.

#### References

- Aleman, A., & Swart, M. (2008). Sex differences in neural activation to facial expressions denoting contempt and disgust. *PLoS One*, 3(11), e3622.
- Armony, J. L., & Sergerie, K. (2007). Own-sex effects in emotional memory for faces. Neuroscience Letters, 426(1), 1–5.
- Arnold, A. P., & Chen, X. (2009). What does the four core genotypes mouse model tell us about sex differences in the brain and other tissues? *Frontiers in Neuroendocrinology*, 30(1), 1–9.
- Arnold, A. P., & Gorski, R. A. (1984). Gonadal steroid induction of structural sex differences in the central nervous system. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, 7, 413–442.
- Arnone, B., Pompili, A., Tavares, M. C., & Gasbarri, A. (2011). Sex-related memory recall and talkativeness for emotional stimuli. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuro*science, 5, 52.
- Asllani, I., Habeck, C., Borogovac, A., Brown, T. R., Brickman, A. M., & Stern, Y. (2009). Separating function from structure in perfusion imaging of the aging brain. *Human Brain Mapping*, 30(9), 2927–2935.
- Azim, E., Mobbs, D., Jo, B., Menon, V., & Reiss, A. L. (2005). Sex differences in brain activation elicited by humor. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 102(45), 16496–16501.

- Barbee, A. P., Cunningham, M. R., Winstead, B. A., & Derlega, V. J. (1993). Effects of gender role expectations on the social support process. *Journal of Social Issues*, 49(3), 75–190.
- Barker, J. M., Torregrossa, M. M., Arnold, A. P., & Taylor, J. R. (2010). Dissociation of genetic and hormonal influences on sex differences in alcoholism-related behaviors. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 30(27), 9140–9144.
- Barrett, L. F., & Bliss-Moreau, E. (2009). She's emotional. He's having a bad day: Attributional explanations for emotion stereotypes. *Emotion*, 9(5), 649–658.
- Benderlioglu, Z., & Nelson, R. J. (2004). Digit length ratios predict reactive aggression in women, but not in men. Hormones and Behavior, 46(5), 558–564.
- Biaggio, M. K. (1980). Assessment of anger arousal. Journal of Personality Assessment, 44(3), 289–298.
- Biaggio, M. K. (1989). Sex differences in behavioral reactions to provocation of anger. Psychological Reports, 64(1), 23–26.
- Biele, C., & Grabowska, A. (2006). Sex differences in perception of emotion intensity in dynamic and static facial expressions. *Experimental Brain Research*, 171(1), 1–6.
- Boes, A. D., Tranel, D., Anderson, S. W., & Nopoulos, P. (2008). Right anterior cingulate: A neuroanatomical correlate of aggression and defiance in boys. *Behavioral Neuroscience*, 122(3), 677–684.
- Bos, P. A., Panksepp, J., Bluthe, R. M., & Honk, J. V. Acute effects of steroid hormones and neuropeptides on human social-emotional behavior: A review of single administration studies. *Frontiers in Neuroendocrinology*, in press.
- Bosson, J. K., & Vandello, J. A. (2011). Precarious manhood and its links to action and aggression. Current Directions in Psychological Science, 20(2), 82.
- Bosson, J. K., Vandello, J. A., Burnaford, R. M., Weaver, J. R., & Arzu Wasti, S. (2009). Precarious manhood and displays of physical aggression. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 35(5), 623–634.
- Boyatzis, C. J., Chazan, E., & Ting, C. Z. (1993). Preschool children's decoding of facial emotions. The Journal of Genetic Psychology, 154(3), 375–382.
- Breedlove, S. M. (2010). Minireview: Organizational hypothesis: Instances of the fingerpost. Endocrinology, 151(9), 4116–4122.
- Brody, L. R., & Hall, J. A. (1993). Gender and emotion. In M. Lewis, & J. Haviland (Eds.), Handbook of emotions (pp. 447–461). New York: Guilford.
- Buck, R., Miller, R. E., & Caul, W. F. (1974). Sex, personality, and physiological variables in the communication of affect via facial expression. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 30(4), 587–596.
- Burnett, A. C., Reutens, D. C., & Wood, A. G. (2010). Social cognition in Turner's Syndrome. Journal of Clinical Neuroscience, 17(3), 283–286.
- Cahill, L. (2003). Sex-related influences on the neurobiology of emotionally influenced memory. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 985, 163–173.
- Cahill, L., Haier, R. J., White, N. S., Fallon, J., Kilpatrick, L., & Lawrence, C. (2001). Sexrelated difference in amygdala activity during emotionally influenced memory storage. Neurobiology of Learning and Memory, 75, 1–9.
- Cahill, L., Uncapher, M., Kilpatrick, L., Alkire, M. T., & Turner, J. (2004). Sex-related hemispheric lateralization of amygdala function in emotionally influenced memory: An FMRI investigation. *Learning & Memory*, 11(3), 261–266.
- Campanella, S., Rossignol, M., Mejias, S., Joassin, F., Maurage, P., Debatisse, D., et al. (2004). Human gender differences in an emotional visual oddball task: An eventrelated potentials study. *Neuroscience Letters*, 367(1), 14–18.
- Campbell, R., Elgar, K., Kuntsi, J., Akers, R., Terstegge, J., Coleman, M., et al. (2002). The classification of 'fear' from faces is associated with face recognition skill in women. *Neuropsychologia*, 40(6), 575–584.
- Canli, T., Desmond, J. E., Zhao, Z., & Gabrieli, J. D. (2002). Sex differences in the neural basis of emotional memories. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 99(16), 10789–10794.
- Chrisler, J. C., & Donald, R. M. (2010). Handbook of gender research in psychology.
- Cohen, E. R., Ugurbil, K., & Kim, S. G. (2002). Effect of basal conditions on the magnitude and dynamics of the blood oxygenation level-dependent fMRI response. *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism*, 22(9), 1042–1053.
- Collignon, O., Girard, S., Gosselin, F., Saint-Amour, D., Lepore, F., & Lassonde, M. (2011). Women process multisensory emotion expressions more efficiently than men. *Neuropsychologia*, 48(1), 220–225.
- Cosgrove, K. P., Mazure, C. M., & Staley, J. K. (2007). Evolving knowledge of sex differences in brain structure, function, and chemistry. *Biological Psychiatry*, 62(8), 847–855.
- Crick, N. R. (1997). Engagement in gender normative versus nonnormative forms of aggression: Links to social-psychological adjustment. *Developmental Psychology*, 33(4), 610–617.
- Daly, M., & Wilson, M. (1988). Evolutionary social psychology and family homicide. Science, 242(4878), 519–524.
- Davies, W., Isles, A. R., Burgoyne, P. S., & Wilkinson, L. S. (2006). X-linked imprinting: Effects on brain and behaviour. *Bioessays*, 28(1), 35–44.
- De Vries, G. J. (2004). Minireview: Sex differences in adult and developing brains: Compensation, compensation, compensation. *Endocrinology*, 145(3), 1063–1068.
- De Vries, G. J., Rissman, E. F., Simerly, R. B., Yang, L. Y., Scordalakes, E. M., Auger, C. J., et al. (2002). A model system for study of sex chromosome effects on sexually dimorphic neural and behavioral traits. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 22(20), 9005–9014.
- Derntl, B., Finkelmeyer, A., Eickhoff, S., Kellermann, T., Falkenberg, D. I., Schneider, F., et al. (2010). Multidimensional assessment of empathic abilities: Neural correlates and gender differences. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 35(1), 67–82.
- Derntl, B., Habel, U., Windischberger, C., Robinson, S., Kryspin-Exner, I., Gur, R. C., et al. (2009). General and specific responsiveness of the amygdala during explicit emotion recognition in females and males. *BMC Neuroscience*, *10*, 91.

- Derntl, B., Windischberger, C., Robinson, S., LampImayr, E., Kryspin-Exner, I., Gur, R. C., et al. (2008). Facial emotion recognition and amygdala activation are associated with menstrual cycle phase. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 33(8), 1031–1040.
- Dimberg, U., & Lundquist, L. O. (1990). Gender differences in facial reactions to facial expressions. *Biological Psychology*, 30(2), 151–159.
- Doi, H., Amamoto, T., Okishige, Y., Kato, M., & Shinohara, K. (2010). The own-sex effect in facial expression recognition. *Neuroreport*, 21(8), 564–568.
- Doyle, M. A., & Biaggio, M. K. (1981). Expression of anger as a function of assertiveness and sex. Journal of Clinical Psychology, 37(1), 154–157.
- Drevets, W. C. (2000). Functional anatomical abnormalities in limbic and prefrontal cortical structures in major depression. *Progressive Brain Research*, 126, 413–431.
- Durston, S., Hulshoff Pol, H. E., Casey, B. J., Giedd, J. N., Buitelaar, J. K., & van Engeland, H. (2001). Anatomical MRI of the developing human brain: What have we learned? *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 40(9), 1012–1020.
- Eron, L. D., & Huesmann, L. R. (1984). The relation of prosocial behavior to the development of aggression and psychopathy. Aggressive Behavior, 10, 201–211.
- Fischer, A. H. (1993). Sex differences in emotionality: Fact or stereotype. Feminism and Psychology, 3, 303–318.
- Fischer, A. H., Rodriguez Mosquera, P. M., van Vianen, A. E., & Manstead, A. S. (2004). Gender and culture differences in emotion. *Emotion*, 4(1), 87–94.
- Fischer, R. J., & Dubbe, L. (2003). Gender differences in responses to emotional advertising: The effect of the presence of others. Advances in Consumer Research, 30, 15–17.
- Fugate, J. M. B., Gouzoules, H., & Barrett, L. F. (2009). Separating production from perception: Perceiver-based explanations for sex differences in emotion. *Behavioural and Brain Sciences*, 5, 394–395.
- Fusar-Poli, P., Placentino, A., Carletti, F., Allen, P., Landi, P., Abbamonte, M., et al. (2009). Laterality effect on emotional faces processing: ALE meta-analysis of evidence. *Neuroscience Letters*, 452(3), 262–267.
- Fusar-Poli, P., Placentino, A., Carletti, F., Landi, P., Allen, P., Surguladze, S., et al. (2009). Functional atlas of emotional faces processing: A voxel-based meta-analysis of 105 functional magnetic resonance imaging studies. *Journal of Psychiatry & Neuroscience*, 34(6), 418–432.
- Gasbarri, A., Arnone, B., Pompili, A., Pacitti, F., Pacitti, C., & Cahill, L. (2007). Sexrelated hemispheric lateralization of electrical potentials evoked by arousing negative stimuli. *Brain Research*, 1138, 178–186.
- Gatewood, J. D., Wills, A., Shetty, S., Xu, J., Arnold, A. P., Burgoyne, P. S., et al. (2006). Sex chromosome complement and gonadal sex influence aggressive and parental behaviors in mice. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 26(8), 2335–2342.
- Geary, D. C., & Flinn, M. V. (2002). Sex differences in behavioral and hormonal response to social threat: Commentary on Taylor et al. (2000). *Psychological Review*, 109(4), 745–750 (discussion 751–743).
- Giedd, J. N., Snell, J. W., Lange, N., Rajapakse, J. C., Casey, B. J., Kozuch, P. L., et al. (1996). Quantitative magnetic resonance imaging of human brain development: Ages 4–18. Cerebral Cortex, 6(4), 551–560.
- Gilmore, J. H., Lin, W., Prastawa, M. W., Looney, C. B., Vetsa, Y. S., Knickmeyer, R. C., et al. (2007). Regional gray matter growth, sexual dimorphism, and cerebral asymmetry in the neonatal brain. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 27(6), 1255–1260. Goldstein, J. M., Jerram, M., Poldrack, R., Ahern, T., Kennedy, D. N., Seidman, L. J., et al.
- Goldstein, J. M., Jerram, M., Poldrack, R., Ahern, T., Kennedy, D. N., Seidman, L. J., et al. (2005). Hormonal cycle modulates arousal circuitry in women using functional magnetic resonance imaging. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 25(40), 9309–9316.
- Goos, L. M., & Silverman, I. (2002). Sex related factors in the perception of threatening facial expressions. Journal of Nonverbal Behavior, 26(1), 27–41.
- Grimshaw, G. M., Bulman-Fleming, M. B., & Ngo, C. (2004). A signal-detection analysis of sex differences in the perception of emotional faces. *Brain and Cognition*, 54(3), 248–250.
- Guapo, V. G., Graeff, F. G., Zani, A. C., Labate, C. M., dos Reis, R. M., & Del-Ben, C. M. (2009). Effects of sex hormonal levels and phases of the menstrual cycle in the processing of emotional faces. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 34(7), 1087–1094.
- Guntekin, B., & Basar, E. (2007). Gender differences influence brain's beta oscillatory responses in recognition of facial expressions. *Neuroscience Letters*, 424(2), 94–99.
- Gur, R. C., Gur, R. E., Obrist, W. D., Hungerbuhler, J. P., Younkin, D., Rosen, A. D., et al. (1982). Sex and handedness differences in cerebral blood flow during rest and cognitive activity. *Science*, 217(4560), 659–661.
- Gur, R. C., Turetsky, B. I., Matsui, M., Yan, M., Bilker, W., Hughett, P., et al. (1999). Sex differences in brain gray and white matter in healthy young adults: Correlations with cognitive performance. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 19(10), 4065–4072.
- Hall, J. A. (1978). Gender effects in decoding nonverbal cues. Psychological Bulletin, 85, 845–857.
- Hall, J. A. (Ed.). (1984). Nonverbal sex differences: Communication accuracy and expressive style.
- Hall, J. A., & Matsumoto, D. (2004). Gender differences in judgments of multiple emotions from facial expressions. *Emotion*, 4(2), 201–206.
- Hampson, E., van Anders, S. M., & Mullin, L. I. (2006). A female advantage in the recognition of emotional facial expressions: Test of an evolutionary hypothesis. *Evolution and Human Behavior*, 27(6), 401–416.
- Han, S., Gao, X., Humphreys, G. W., & Ge, J. (2008). Neural processing of threat cues in social environments. *Human Brain Mapping*, 29(8), 945–957.
- Hareli, S., Shomrat, N., & Hess, U. (2009). Emotional versus neutral expressions and perceptions of social dominance and submissiveness. *Emotion*, 9(3), 378–384.
- Harmon-Jones, E., Gable, P. A., & Peterson, C. K. (2010). The role of asymmetric frontal cortical activity in emotion-related phenomena: A review and update. *Biological Psychology*, 84(3), 451–462.

Hart, C. H., DeWolf, M., & Burts, D. C. (1992). Linkages among preschoolers' playground behaviour, outcome expectations, and parental disciplinary strategies. Early Education and Development, 3, 265-283.

Hiroi, R., & Neumaier, J. F. (2011). Complex roles of estrogen in emotion: Sex matters. Biological Psychiatry, 70(10), 908-909.

Ino, T., Nakai, R., Azuma, T., Kimura, T., & Fukuyama, H. (2010). Gender differences in brain activation during encoding and recognition of male and female faces. Brain Imaging and Behavior, 4(1), 55-67.

Jansari, A., Rodway, P., & Goncalves, S. (2011). Identifying facial emotions: Valence specific effects and an exploration of the effects of viewer gender. Brain and Cognition, 76(3), 415-423.

Jezova, D., Skultetyova, I., Tokarev, D. I., Bakos, P., & Vigas, M. (1995). Vasopressin and oxytocin in stress. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 771, 192-203.

Kastrup, A., Li, T. Q., Glover, G. H., Kruger, G., & Moseley, M. E. (1999). Gender differences in cerebral blood flow and oxygenation response during focal physiologic neural activity. Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism, 19(10), 1066-1071.

Kemna, L. J., Posse, S., Tellmann, L., Schmitz, T., & Herzog, H. (2001). Interdependence of regional and global cerebral blood flow during visual stimulation: An O-15butanol positron emission tomography study. Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism, 21(6), 664-670.

Kesler-West, M. L., Andersen, A. H., Smith, C. D., Avison, M. J., Davis, C. E., Kryscio, R. I., et al. (2001). Neural substrates of facial emotion processing using fMRI. Brain Research. Cognitive Brain Research, 11(2), 213–226.

Kesler, S. R., Garrett, A., Bender, B., Yankowitz, J., Zeng, S. M., & Reiss, A. L. (2004). Amygdala and hippocampal volumes in Turner syndrome: A high-resolution MRI study of X-monosomy. Neuropsychologia, 42(14), 1971-1978.

Kessler, R. C., Demler, O., Frank, R. G., Olfson, M., Pincus, H. A., Walters, E. E., et al. (2005). Prevalence and treatment of mental disorders, 1990 to 2003. The New England Journal of Medicine, 352(24), 2515-2523.

Killgore, W. D., & Yurgelun-Todd, D. A. (2001). Sex differences in amygdala activation during the perception of facial affect. NeuroReport, 12, 2543-2547.

Kret, M. E., Pichon, S., Grèzes, J., & De Gelder, B. (2011). Men fear other men most: Gender specific brain activations in perceiving threat from dynamic faces and bodies-An fMRI study. Frontiers in Psychology, 2, 3.

Kret, M. E., Roelofs, K., Stekelenburg, J. J., & De Gelder, B. Fixation patterns on facial and bodily expressions of emotion as a function of anxiety, in preparation.

Kret, M.E. (2011). Context, gender and personality factors, influencing the perception of facial and bodily expressions of emotion. Doctoral dissertation. Ridderkerk: Ridderprint.

Kring, A. M., & Gordon, A. H. (1998). Sex differences in emotion: Expression, experience, and physiology. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 74, 686–703. LaFrance, M., Hecht, M. A., & Paluck, E. L. (2003). The contingent smile: A meta-

analysis of sex differences in smiling. Psychological Bulletin, 129(2), 305-334.

Landgraf, R., & Neumann, I. D. (2004). Vasopressin and oxytocin release within the brain: A dynamic concept of multiple and variable modes of neuropeptide communication. Frontiers in Neuroendocrinology, 25(3-4), 150-176.

Lansford, J. E., Miller-Johnson, S., Berlin, L. J., Dodge, K. A., Bates, J. E., & Pettit, G. S. (2007). Early physical abuse and later violent delinquency: A prospective longitudinal study. Child Maltreatment, 12(3), 233-245.

Lawrence, K., Kuntsi, J., Coleman, M., Campbell, R., & Skuse, D. (2003). Face and emotion recognition deficits in Turner syndrome: A possible role for X-linked

genes in amygdala development. Neuropsychology, 17(1), 39–49. Lee, T. M., Liu, H. L., Chan, C. C., Fang, S. Y., & Gao, J. H. (2005). Neural activities associated with emotion recognition observed in men and women. Molecular Psychiatry, 10(5), 450-455.

Levin, J. M., Frederick Bde, B., Ross, M. H., Fox, J. F., von Rosenberg, H. L., Kaufman, M. I., et al. (2001). Influence of baseline hematocrit and hemodilution on BOLD fMRI activation. Magnetic Resonance Imaging, 19(8), 1055-1062.

Levin, I. M., Ross, M. H., Mendelson, I. H., Mello, N. K., Cohen, B. M., & Renshaw, P. F. (1998). Sex differences in blood-oxygenation-level-dependent functional MRI with primary visual stimulation. American Journal of Psychiatry, 155(3), 434-436.

LoBue, V. (2009). More than just another face in the crowd: Superior detection of threatening facial expressions in children and adults. Developmental Science, 12(2), 305-313.

Luders, E., Steinmetz, H., & Jancke, L. (2002). Brain size and grey matter volume in the healthy human brain. Neuroreport, 13(17), 2371-2374.

MacLusky, N. J., & Naftolin, F. (1981). Sexual differentiation of the central nervous system. Science, 211(4488), 1294-1302.

Mandal, M. K., & Palchoudhury, S. (1985). Perceptual skill in decoding facial affect. Perceptual & Motor Skills, 60(1), 96-98.

Marsh, A. A., Adams, R. B., Jr., & Kleck, R. E. (2005). Why do fear and anger look the way they do? Form and social function in facial expressions. Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin, 31(1), 73-86.

Mather, M., Lighthall, N. R., Nga, L., & Gorlick, M. A. (2010). Sex differences in how stress affects brain activity during face viewing. Neuroreport, 21(14), 933-937.

Mazurski, E. J., Bond, N. W., Siddle, D. A., & Lovibond, P. F. (1996). Conditioning with facial expressions of emotion: Effects of CS sex and age. Psychophysiology, 33(4), 416-425

Mazzola, F., Seigal, A., MacAskill, A., Corden, B., Lawrence, K., & Skuse, D. H. (2006). Eye tracking and fear recognition deficits in Turner syndrome. Social Neuroscience, 1(3-4), 259-269.

McCarthy, M. M., & Arnold, A. P. (2011). Reframing sexual differentiation of the brain. Nature Neuroscience, 14(6), 677-683.

McClure, E. B. (2000). A meta-analytic review of sex differences in facial expression processing and their development in infants, children, and adolescents. Psychological Bulletin, 126, 424-453.

Molko, N., Cachia, A., Riviere, D., Mangin, J. F., Bruandet, M., LeBihan, D., et al. (2004). Brain anatomy in Turner syndrome: Evidence for impaired social and spatialnumerical networks. Cerebral Cortex, 14(8), 840-850.

Moore, M. (1966). Aggression themes in a binocular rivalry situation. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 36, 685-688.

Morris, J. A., Jordan, C. L., & Breedlove, S. M. (2004). Sexual differentiation of the vertebrate nervous system. Nature Neuroscience, 7(10), 1034-1039.

Navarrete, C. D., Olsson, A., Ho, A. K., Mendes, W. B., Thomsen, L., & Sidanius, J. (2009). Fear extinction to an out-group face: The role of target gender. Psychological Science, 20(2), 155-158.

Negri-Cesi, P., Colciago, A., Celotti, F., & Motta, M. (2004). Sexual differentiation of the brain: Role of testosterone and its active metabolites. Journal of Endocrinological Investigation, 27(6 Suppl.), 120L 127.

Nelson, N. L., & Russell, J. A. (2011a). Preschoolers' use of dynamic facial, bodily, and vocal cues to emotion. Journal of Experimental Child Psychology, 110(1), 52-61.

Nelson, N. L., & Russell, J. A. (2011b). When dynamic, the head and face alone can express pride. Emotion, 11(4), 990-993.

Ngun, T. C., Ghahramani, N., Sanchez, F. J., Bocklandt, S., & Vilain, E. (2010). The genetics of sex differences in brain and behavior. Frontiers in Neuroendocrinology, 32(2), 227-246.

Nowicki, S., Jr., & Hartigan, M. (1988). Accuracy of facial affect recognition as a function of locus of control orientation and anticipated interpersonal interaction. The Journal of Social Psychology, 128(3), 363–372.

Öhman, A., & Dimberg, U. (1978). Facial expressions as conditioned stimuli for electrodermal responses: A case of preparedness? Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 36(11), 1251-1258.

Oliver-Rodriguez, J. C., Guan, Z., & Johnston, V. S. (1999). Gender differences in late positive components evoked by human faces. Psychophysiology, 36(2), 176-185.

Orozco, S., & Ehlers, C. L. (1998). Gender differences in electrophysiological responses to facial stimuli. Biological Psychiatry, 44(4), 281-289.

Phoenix, C. H., Goy, R. W., Gerall, A. A., & Young, W. C. (1959). Organizing action of prenatally administered testosterone propionate on the tissues mediating mating behavior in the female guinea pig. Endocrinology, 65, 369-382.

Potegal, M., & Archer, J. (2004). Sex differences in childhood anger and aggression. Child & Adolescent Psychiatric Clinics of North America, 13(3), 513-528, vi-vii.

Proverbio, A. M., Brignone, V., Matarazzo, S., Del Zotto, M., & Zani, A. (2006). Gender differences in hemispheric asymmetry for face processing. BMC Neuroscience, 7, 44.

Rahko, J., Paakki, J. J., Starck, T., Nikkinen, J., Remes, J., Hurtig, T., et al. (2010). Functional mapping of dynamic happy and fearful facial expression processing in adolescents. Brain Imaging Behavior, 4(2), 164-176. Rahman, Q., Wilson, G. D., & Abrahams, S. (2004). Sex, sexual orientation, and identi-

fication of positive and negative facial affect. Brain and Cognition, 54(3), 179–185.

Raz, N., Gunning-Dixon, F., Head, D., Rodrigue, K. M., Williamson, A., & Acker, J. D. (2004). Aging, sexual dimorphism, and hemispheric asymmetry of the cerebral cortex: Replicability of regional differences in volume. Neurobiology of Aging, 25(3), 377-396.

Rodriguez, G., Warkentin, S., Risberg, J., & Rosadini, G. (1988). Sex differences in regional cerebral blood flow. Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism, 8(6), 783-789.

Rotter, N. G., & Rotter, G. S. (1988). Sex differences in encoding and decoding of negative facial emotion. Journal of Nonverbal Behavior, 12, 139-148.

Rotteveel M & Phaf R H (2004) Automatic affective evaluation does not automatically predispose for arm flexion and extension. *Emotion*, 4(2), 156–172.

Sanchez, F. J., & Vilain, E. (2010). Genes and brain sex differences. Progressive Brain Research 186 65-76

Schienle, A., Schafer, A., Stark, R., Walter, B., & Vaitl, D. (2005). Gender differences in the processing of disgust- and fear-inducing pictures: An fMRI study. Neuroreport, 16(3), 277-280.

Schneider, F., Habel, U., Kessler, C., Salloum, J. B., & Posse, S. (2000). Gender differences in regional cerebral activity during sadness. Human Brain Mapping, 9(4), 226-238.

Schneider, S., Peters, J., Bromberg, U., Brassen, S., Menz, M. M., Miedl, S. F., et al. (2011). Boys do it the right way: Sex-dependent amygdala lateralization during face processing in adolescents. NeuroImage, 56(3), 1847-1853.

Schwerdtfeger, A., Heims, R., & Heer, J. (2010). Digit ratio (2D:4D) is associated with traffic violations for male frequent car drivers. Accident Analysis & Prevention, 42(1), 269-274.

Seidel, E. M., Habel, U., Kirschner, M., Gur, R. C., & Derntl, B. (2010). The impact of facial emotional expressions on behavioral tendencies in women and men. Journal of Experimental Psychology: Human Perception and Performance, 36(2), 500-507.

Serbin, L. A., Marchessault, K., McAffer, V., Peters, P., & Schwartzman, A. E. (1993). Patterns of social behavior on the playground in 9- to 11-year-old girls and boys: Relation to teacher perceptions and to peer ratings of aggression, withdrawal, and likability. In C. H. Hart (Ed.), Children on playgrounds: Research perspectives and applications (pp. 162-183). Albany, NY: State University of New York Press.

Sergerie, K., Chochol, C., & Armony, J. L. (2008). The role of the amygdala in emotional processing: A quantitative meta-analysis of functional neuroimaging studies. Neuroscience Biobehavioral Review, 32(4), 811-830.

Shields, S. A. (1987). Women, men, and the dilemma of emotion. In P. Shaver, & C. Hendrik (Eds.), Sex and gender: Review of personality and social psychology (pp. 229-250). Beverly Hills: Sage.

Siegel, S. J., & Alloy, L. B. (1990). Interpersonal perceptions and consequences of depressive-significant other relationships: A naturalistic study of college roommates. Journal of Abnormal Psychology, 99(4), 361-373.

- Skuse, D. H., James, R. S., Bishop, D. V., Coppin, B., Dalton, P., Aamodt-Leeper, G., et al. (1997). Evidence from Turner's syndrome of an imprinted X-linked locus affecting cognitive function. *Nature*, 387(6634), 705–708.
- Skuse, D. H., Morris, J. S., & Dolan, R. J. (2005). Functional dissociation of amygdalamodulated arousal and cognitive appraisal, in Turner syndrome. *Brain*, 128(Pt 9), 2084–2096.
- Smith, Y. R., & Zubieta, J. K. (2001). Neuroimaging of aging and estrogen effects on central nervous system physiology. *Fertility and Sterility*, 76(4), 651–659.
- Stoppard, J. M., & Gruchy, G. (1993). Gender, context, and expression of positive emotion. Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin, 19, 143–150.
- Taylor, S. E., Klein, L. C., Lewis, B. P., Gruenewald, T. L., Gurung, R. A., & Updegraff, J. A. (2000). Biobehavioral responses to stress in females: Tend-and-befriend, not fight-or-flight. *Psychological Review*, 107(3), 411–429.
- Thayer, J. F., & Johnsen, B. H. (2000). Sex differences in judgement of facial affect: A multivariate analysis of recognition errors. Scandinavian Journal of Psychology, 41(3), 243–246.
- Tracy, J. L., & Beall, A. T. (2011). Happy guys finish last: The impact of emotion expressions on sexual attraction. *Emotion*.
- Underwood, M. K., Coie, J. D., & Herbsman, C. R. (1992). Display rules for anger and aggression in school-age children. *Child Development*, 63(2), 366–380.
- Uvnas-Moberg, K., & Petersson, M. (2005). Oxytocin, a mediator of anti-stress, wellbeing, social interaction, growth and healing. Z Psychosomatic Medicine and Psychotherapy, 51(1), 57–80.
- Valentino, R. J., Reyes, B., Van Bockstaele, E., & Bangasser, D. (2011). Molecular and cellular sex differences at the intersection of stress and arousal. *Neuropharma*cology, 62(1), 13–20.
- van der Plas, E. A., Boes, A. D., Wemmie, J. A., Tranel, D., & Nopoulos, P. (2010). Amygdala volume correlates positively with fearfulness in normal healthy girls. Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience, 5(4), 424–431.
- van Honk, J., & Schutter, D. J. (2007). Testosterone reduces conscious detection of signals serving social correction: Implications for antisocial behavior. *Psychological Science*, 18(8), 663–667.
- van Honk, J., Schutter, D. J., Bos, P. A., Kruijt, A. W., Lentjes, E. G., & Baron-Cohen, S. (2011). Testosterone administration impairs cognitive empathy in women depending on second-to-fourth digit ratio. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences of the United States of America, 108(8), 3448–3452.
- van Wingen, G. A., Ossewaarde, L., Backstrom, T., Hermans, E. J., & Fernandez, G. (2011). Gonadal hormone regulation of the emotion circuitry in humans. *Neuroscience*, 191, 38–45.

- Vassallo, S., Cooper, S. L., & Douglas, J. M. (2009). Visual scanning in the recognition of facial affect: Is there an observer sex difference? *Journal of Vision*, 9(3), 1–10.
- Wager, T. D., & Ochsner, K. N. (2005). Sex differences in the emotional brain. *Neuroreport*, 16(2), 85–87.
   Wager, T. D., Phan, K. L., Liberzon, I., & Taylor, S. F. (2003). Valence, gender, and lat-
- wager, T. D., Phan, K. L., Eiberzon, I., & Taylor, S. F. (2003). Valence, gender, and fateralization of functional brain anatomy in emotion: A meta-analysis of findings from neuroimaging. *NeuroImage*, 19(3), 513–531.
- Wagner, H. L., MacDonalda, C. J., & Mansteada, A. S. R. (1986). Communication of individual emotions by spontaneous facial expressions. *Journal of Personality* and Social Psychology, 50(4), 737–743.
- Walter, C. (2006). Why do we cry. Scientific American Mind, 17(6), 44.
- Warwick, M. M., Doody, G. A., Lawrie, S. M., Kestelman, J. N., Best, J. J., & Johnstone, E. C. (1999). Volumetric magnetic resonance imaging study of the brain in subjects with sex chromosome aneuploidies. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry*, 66(5), 628–632.
- Whittle, S., Yucel, M., Yap, M. B., & Allen, N. B. (2011). Sex differences in the neural correlates of emotion: Evidence from neuroimaging. *Biological Psychology*, 87(3), 319–333.
- Wild, B., Erb, M., & Bartels, M. (2001). Are emotions contagious? Evoked emotions while viewing emotionally expressive faces: Quality, quantity, time course and gender differences. *Psychiatry Research*, 102(2), 109–124.
- Williams, L. M., Barton, M. J., Kemp, A. H., Liddell, B. J., Peduto, A., Gordon, E., et al. (2005). Distinct amygdala-autonomic arousal profiles in response to fear signals in healthy males and females. *NeuroImage*, 28(3), 618–626.
- Williams, T. D., Carter, D. A., & Lightman, S. L. (1985). Sexual dimorphism in the posterior pituitary response to stress in the rat. *Endocrinology*, 116(2), 738–740.
- Witte, A. V., Savli, M., Holik, A., Kasper, S., & Lanzenberger, R. (2010). Regional sex differences in grey matter volume are associated with sex hormones in the young adult human brain. *NeuroImage*, 49(2), 1205–1212.
- Wrase, J., Klein, S., Gruesser, S. M., Hermann, D., Flor, H., Mann, K., et al. (2003). Gender differences in the processing of standardized emotional visual stimuli in humans: A functional magnetic resonance imaging study. *Neuroscience Letters*, 348(1), 41–45.
- Zald, D. H. (2003). The human amygdala and the emotional evaluation of sensory stimuli. Brain Research Reviews, 41(1), 88–123.
- Zeidan, M. A., Igoe, S. A., Linnman, C., Vitalo, A., Levine, J. B., Klibanski, A., et al. (2011). Estradiol modulates medial prefrontal cortex and amygdala activity during fear extinction in women and female rats. *Biological Psychiatry*, 70(10), 920–927.